ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

CERTIORARI TO SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable J. Mark Hayes II, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2010-CP-42-5670
Appellate Case No. 2012-209540

Jerome Curtis Buckson, Respondent,

v.

State of South Carolina, Petitioner.

**BRIEF OF
PETITIONER**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SUZANNE H. WHITE
Assistant Deputy Attorney General
SC Bar #78225

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

AUG 11 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

Was there any probative evidence to support the PCR Court's finding that Counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate or call witnesses in an attempt to establish that Respondent was not guilty of burglary – 1st degree because the apartment at issue was his home, when the witnesses offered by Respondent lacked credibility or relevance and Respondent failed to demonstrate that the outcome of the trial would have been different had Counsel called more witnesses and investigated more?

Was there any probative evidence to support the PCR Court's finding that Counsel was ineffective for failing to utilize trial witnesses more effectively, when the Respondent failed to demonstrate that the outcome of the trial would have been different had Counsel utilized trial witnesses differently?

Was there any probative evidence to support the PCR Court's finding that Counsel was ineffective for focusing more on the defense for the murder charge, rather than prepare for the defense that Respondent was not guilty of burglary – 1st degree because the apartment at issue was his home, when the Respondent failed to demonstrate that the outcome of the trial would have been different had Counsel prepared differently?

Did the PCR Court improperly hold that Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the item stricken on the jury verdict form based upon the cumulative error analysis, when South Carolina has not acknowledged that as a proper analysis for post-conviction relief?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Respondent is incarcerated with the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to the Spartanburg County Clerk of Court's orders of commitment. The Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted the Respondent at the February 2006 term of General Sessions for burglary – 1st degree (06-GS-42-0845) and murder (06-GS-42-0846). Mr. Richard H. Warder, Esquire, represented the Respondent on the charges. On February 2, 2007, following a jury trial, the Respondent was acquitted of murder, but convicted of burglary – 1st degree. The Honorable J. Derham Cole sentenced the Respondent to confinement for twenty years.

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed and an Anders brief was filed on Respondent's behalf. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction and sentence. State v. Buckson, Op. No. 2010-UP-282 (filed May 20, 2010). A Petition for Rehearing was filed and denied June 17, 2010. Respondent filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the South Carolina Supreme Court, but then, by affidavit and letter, voluntarily withdrew his appeal. The Petition was dismissed and the Remittitur returned on October 6, 2010.

Respondent then filed an Application for Post-Conviction Relief on October 22, 2010, and an Amended Application on September 8, 2011. The Petitioner made its Return on or about May 3, 2011. An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable J. Mark Hayes II on September 23, 2011, at which time the Respondent was present and represented by Tricia Blanchette, Esquire. Suzanne H. White, Esquire, of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office represented the Petitioner. Judge Hayes signed an Order Granting Post-Conviction Relief on October 21, 2011. Petitioner then filed a timely 59(e) Motion and Respondent filed a Response. Judge Hayes dismissed the Motion on March 9, 2012.

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on Petitioner's behalf and both a Petition for Writ of Certiorari and Return to Petition for Writ of Certiorari were filed. The South Carolina Court of Appeals granted Certiorari and ordered the parties to brief the issues. This Brief of Petitioner follows.

)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard of review of a post-conviction relief evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

ARGUMENTS

- I. **There was no probative evidence to support the PCR Court’s finding that Counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate or call witnesses in an attempt to establish that Respondent was not guilty of burglary – 1st degree because the apartment at issue was his home, when Respondent failed to demonstrate that the outcome of the trial would have been different had Counsel called these witnesses and investigated more.**

The PCR Court found that Counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and failing to contact and utilize witnesses presented at the hearing because they offered “pertinent” testimony regarding the Respondent’s residency or intent to commit a crime within the apartment. (App. p. 746-47, 749). Although Respondent offered four witnesses that claim they would have testified at trial, the majority of the information that they offered was not in dispute or was completely irrelevant to the defense that the Respondent was living in the apartment at the time of the incident and could therefore, not have committed a burglary.

Shirley Hall

Shirley Hall testified that she had been a neighbor in the apartment complex at the time of the burglary and shooting. (App. p. 564). Respondent offered into evidence a handwritten note that Ms. Hall testified she had provided to Respondent prior to trial, for him to provide to his attorney, which indicates that Ms. Hall saw Respondent living with the victim for a year and up

until the time of the shooting. (App p. 725). However, Ms. Hall testified that she “recall[ed] him over there.” (App. p. 565). Ms. Hall testified that she would have been willing to testify at Respondent’s trial, had she been contacted by Counsel, but denied that she had ever spoken with Counsel or his investigator. (App. p. 565). Nevertheless, Ms. Hall testified that she lived two doors down from the victim’s apartment and there was a partition between them, so she could not see anything but the Respondent leaving. She also testified that she had no knowledge as to whether or not the Respondent had a key to the apartment or whether or not the victim had broken up with Respondent in the weeks prior to the burglary and shooting. (App p. 566).

Counsel testified that he did recall receiving the note from Ms. Hall and the fact that his investigator did go meet with Ms. Hall. (App. p. 698). Counsel testified that he and his investigator discussed the fact that Ms. Hall would not be able to offer much helpful information and the information she could provide at the time was not beneficial. (App. p. 598).

Petitioner first submits that the uncontroverted testimony is that Counsel was aware of and did investigate calling Ms. Hall as a witness. However, Counsel made a strategic decision based upon the witness interview, that calling Hall would not be beneficial to the defense. The lower court found Counsel’s testimony to be credible on the issues he specifically recalled. (App. p. 743). Ms. Hall could only testify to facts which were not in dispute. There was no question as to the fact that the Respondent and the victim had dated and the Respondent had stayed with the victim in her home for a period of time. However, the State presented testimony which indicated that the victim had broken up with Respondent and Respondent was no longer staying with the victim in her home. Ms. Hall was unable to provide any testimony to support Respondent’s defense that he was still living at the home at the time of the shooting. Hall testified that she had no direct view of the apartment door and had no knowledge of whether the

Respondent ever had a key to the victim's apartment or whether the victim had broken up with the Respondent recently. (App. p. 566). Petitioner submits that not only was Counsel not deficient in not calling Ms. Hall because he thoroughly investigated her potential testimony, but Respondent was not prejudiced by Counsel's failure to call Ms. Hall because she could only testify to facts which were not in dispute.

Elliott Canada

The second witness produced by the Respondent was Elliott Canada. Mr. Canada testified that he had been to the victim's apartment on the night of the shooting and twice previously. (App. p. 569). Canada knew the victim through family, but worked with the victim's cousin Charlene and Mr. Watson, the gentleman that the victim was seeing that evening. (App. p. 568-9). In fact, Mr. Watson was the person that brought and took Canada home that evening. (App. p. 571). Canada also admitted through cross-examination that he was dating the victim's cousin Charlene at the time. (App. p. 575)

Canada testified that he had seen men's items in the apartment upstairs in the bedroom area on the prior visits, and also that night. (App. p. 569-570). He testified that it appeared to him that a man had been living in the apartment. (App. p. 570). However, he admitted that he did not see men's clothing items in the apartment on the night of the shooting. (App. p. 579). On cross-examination, he also admitted that he had been in the apartment a total of three times in the month prior to the shooting, but only went upstairs twice, contradicting his previous testimony. (App. p. 576). He also testified that he could not recall if he went upstairs on the night of the shooting. (App. p. 576). However, he did testify that he did not see any items to indicate that a man lived in the apartment on the night in question in the downstairs area. (App. p. 577). Canada testified that he never heard the victim refer to Respondent by his full name and

never referred to Respondent as her boyfriend. (App. p. 577-8). Canada testified that he did not know if Respondent had a key to the apartment either. (App. p. 579).

Canada acknowledged that at the time of trial, he was in the county jail. He stated that the prosecutor came to meet with him in jail and he knew that he was listed as a potential State witness. (App. p. 572). However, he testified that he would have been willing to speak with Counsel or his investigator and would have been willing to testify for the defense if he had been subpoenaed. (App. p. 573). Because of his relationship with Mr. Watson, who at one point was also arrested for and accused of the murder of the victim, any assertions that he would have testified on Respondent's behalf are incredible.

Petitioner submits that the Respondent was not prejudiced by Counsel's failure to call Mr. Canada because, like Ms. Hall, Canada only offered testimony relating to undisputed facts. The State concedes that, at some point, the Applicant stayed in the victim's apartment as a resident. However, Respondent needed witnesses to support that he was *still* living in the apartment on January 29th, and Mr. Canada's testimony could not support that assertion. "The proper test is whether, under the totality of the circumstances, a burglary defendant had custody and control of, and the right and expectation to be safe and secure in, the dwelling burglarized." State v. Singley, 392 S.C. 270, 277, 709 S.E.2d 603, 606 (2011). Mr. Canada's testimony suggested the Applicant was **not** living in the apartment at the time. Canada did not observe men's items in the home the evening of the shooting and Canada testified that the victim and Mr. Watson both appeared nervous about the Respondent showing up at the apartment. (App. p. 580). If the Respondent had been welcome in the home on January 29th, Petitioner submits that the victim would not have been so nervous about his return. The victim was the clear owner with rights to invite people into her home as guests and evict them when she so desired. The

Respondent was welcome in the home so long as he was in the victim's "good graces." See Singley, 392 S.C. at 275, 709 S.E.2d at 606. Mr. Canada's testimony suggests that the Applicant was no longer in those "good graces."

Respondent failed to establish that the outcome of the trial would have changed had Canada testified. The Petitioner submits that the Respondent was not prejudiced by Counsel's failure to call Mr. Canada.

Antwan Martin

Respondent also offered his childhood friend, Mr. Antwan Martin, as another witness. Although he testified that he and Respondent were lifetime friends, Mr. Martin testified that he had only been by the victim's apartment twice to see Respondent because of his work and family schedule. (App. p. 588). Martin could not recall when he had visited the apartment, but did know that it had not been the week or so prior to the shooting. (App. p. 591). He testified that he was aware that the apartment had flooded previously, which required the victim and Respondent to move in with Respondent's mother briefly. (App. p. 587). Martin also testified that he thought the locks had been changed at the apartment because of a break-in. (App. p. 587). However, he did not testify how he knew this information. Martin also testified that he did not know whether Respondent had a key to the apartment at the time of the burglary and shooting or "anything about that situation." (App. p. 587-8).

Martin testified that he was with Respondent the entire day prior to the shooting and Respondent never mentioned being kicked out or fighting with the victim. (App. p. 588). Martin also testified that when he returned Respondent to his car following the work that day, Respondent told him that he had numerous missed phone calls from the victim. (App. p. 590). Martin acknowledged that he did not see the phone, but relied on Respondent telling him that

there were numerous calls from the victim throughout the day. (App. p. 591). Mr. Martin testified that he was never contacted by Counsel or his investigator, but would have been willing to speak with them or testify at trial. (App. p. 586). Counsel testified that he did recall Mr. Martin being with Respondent on the day prior to the shooting, but believed that he did not call him because there was some good and bad on Martin, and Martin and Respondent had been at a club at some point that night. (App. p. 704).

Although Mr. Martin was the only witness present at the PCR hearing who claimed to have knowledge relating to the Respondent's relationship with the victim, the Petitioner submits he lacked credible foundation for that knowledge and the outcome of the trial would not have changed had he testified. Martin's basis for knowledge about the Respondent's relationship with the victim was solely based on information Respondent provided. In fact, Martin's testimony that he was with Respondent from 3:00 pm until shortly after 8:00 pm, directly contradicts the Respondent's trial testimony that he only spent about two and a half hours, until 4:30 pm, helping Martin move. (App. p. 321; 591). Mr. Martin had not been to the apartment in the weeks prior to January 29th and had not seen any interactions between the Respondent and the victim. Martin was merely present when the Respondent returned to his phone and Respondent informed Martin that there were numerous voicemail from the victim. From that information alone and no personal or first-hand knowledge, Mr. Martin concluded that the Respondent was still in a relationship with the victim and he was still living in her apartment. The Petitioner submits that this testimony does not support the defense that the Respondent was living with the victim at the time and the Respondent was not prejudiced by Counsel's failure to call Mr. Martin.

Lloyd Williams

The final witness offered was the victim's stepfather at the time of the shooting, Lloyd Williams. The Petitioner submits that, much like Ms. Hall and Mr. Canada, Mr. Williams' testimony relates only to matters undisputed at trial. Mr. Williams testified that he was listed as a witness for the State, but was never called at trial. (App. p. 606). Williams testified that he had known the victim since he married her mother when the victim was four years old. (App. p. 606). Williams testified that he normally saw the victim at least once a week and would often visit her at the apartment where the shooting occurred. (App. p. 606-7).

Williams testified that he knew the Respondent was at the apartment often, but Williams could not say if the Respondent was living there or not. (App. p. 607; 613). Williams stated that Respondent was at the apartment most of the time Williams visited and was told by the victim once that Respondent was upstairs sleeping because he had to work third shift. (App. p. 608-9). Williams also testified that he had seen Respondent put one of the victim's children through the kitchen window so that they could unlock the door once, and Respondent claimed at that time that he did not have his key to the apartment yet because he had given his key to the victim's mother. (App. p. 609-611). Williams could not testify as to the time frame of when he saw that occur though. (App. p. 619). Williams also testified that he never saw any men's clothing items at the apartment. (App. p. 614). When shown his previous statement, Williams simply stated that "in the early stages," he believed that Respondent was living at the victim's apartment because he made that assumption when the victim would indicate that the Respondent was upstairs sleeping. (App. p. 617). In fact, Williams stated that he "[made] the assumption that [Respondent] was living there." (App. p. 617). Williams testified that he did not know if

Respondent would leave the home after Williams visited or if Respondent would stay the night. (App. p. 607; 620)

Williams testified that he visited the victim's apartment on the night of the shooting and the victim told him that she originally did not answer the door when he knocked because she thought it was "J," referring to the Respondent. (App. p. 612). Williams also testified that he saw that the victim was playing cards with Charlene and two other guys. (App. p. 613). He testified that when he saw the victim and Charlene with the two guys, he did not know what to think in regards to whether or not the victim and the Respondent were dating anymore (App. p. 619).

Although Williams' testimony supports the fact that Respondent, at some point, lived with the victim, Williams offered no direct knowledge if Respondent and victim were dating at the time of the incident. Williams did not know if the Respondent had a key to the apartment at the time of the incident. His testimony corroborates the Respondent's testimony that the window was once used as a point of entry into the house, but this testimony at best reduces the suspicion surrounding the Respondent's method of entry. Insofar as the State was trying to prove that his method of entry indicated that he did not live at the apartment, Mr. Williams' testimony could have potentially rebutted that. However, the defense still needed to rebut the State's evidence, offered by Mrs. Williams, that Respondent and the victim had ended their relationship and Respondent was no longer welcome to stay in the apartment. No witnesses offered at the PCR hearing, including Mr. Williams, offered testimony to refute that. Evidence relating to the use of the back window as a method of entry does not address whether the Respondent was still permitted to stay at the apartment at the time of the incident. Additionally, Petitioner submits that the testimony could have been harmful to the defense, because Williams testified that the victim

did not want to open the door the night of the incident because she thought it was Respondent. That testimony appears to indicate three things: one; the Respondent was not welcome at the victim's apartment, two; the Respondent did not have a key to the apartment and would have had to knock for entry, and three; the victim was frightened by or had cause to be concerned about allowing Respondent in her home. The Petitioner therefore submits that the Applicant was not prejudiced by Counsel's failure to call Mr. Williams.

In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the Petitioner must prove that "Counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 692 (1984); Butler, 334 S E 2d 813.

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that Counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, 80 L.Ed.2d 674. The Petitioner must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

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