ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS
Appeal from Spartanburg
The Honorable J. Mark Hayes II, Post-Conviction Relief Judge

RECEIVED

JUN 12 2017

Opinion No. 2016-UP-174 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April 13, 2016)
Appellate Case No. 2012-209540

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2016-001430

JERMONE CURTIS BUCKSON,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

VALERIE GARCIA GIOVANOLI
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 102524

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Though each of these witnesses provided some testimony regarding the fact that Petitioner lived with the victim at some point prior to the night she was killed, none of them had specific personal knowledge as to whether Petitioner was still living with the victim as of the night she was killed.

Shirley Hall

Shirley Hall testified she had been a neighbor in the apartment complex at the time of the burglary and shooting. (App. p. 564). Petitioner offered into evidence a handwritten note Shirley testified she gave to Petitioner for him to provide to his attorney prior to trial, in which Shirley indicated she saw Petitioner living with the victim for a year and up until the time of the shooting. (App. p. 725). However, Shirley also testified on cross-examination she "would see him leave" and that "Other than I, [sic] I don't know what, you know, what went on over there because I'm like two doors down from them and there's a partition in-between us. And, so, I couldn't see . . . in and out." (App. p. 566). She also testified she had no knowledge as to whether or not Petitioner had a key to the apartment or whether or not the victim had broken up with Petitioner in the weeks prior to the burglary and shooting. (App. p. 566).

Counsel testified he did recall receiving the note from Shirley and the fact that his investigator did go meet with Shirley. (App. p. 698). Counsel testified he and his investigator discussed the fact that Shirley would not be able to offer much helpful information and the information she could provide at the time was not beneficial. (App. p. 598). When Counsel was asked why he did not call any witnesses for the defense other than Petitioner, Petitioner's mother, Petitioner's aunt, and Chad Tate, Counsel testified that those witnesses "made good witnesses, they looked good, and brought no baggage with them." (App. p. 714). Therefore, Counsel did

investigate calling Shirley as a witness, but determined based on the interview, that calling her would not be beneficial to the defense.

The PCR court found Counsel's testimony to be credible on the issues he specifically recalled. (App. p. 743). Shirley's testimony concerned only facts that were not in dispute. Whether Petitioner and the victim had dated and whether Petitioner had stayed with the victim at some point prior to the shooting were not disputed issues at trial. The State presented testimony at trial to show the victim had broken up with Petitioner and Petitioner was no longer a welcome guest in her home as of the time of the shooting. Shirley testified she had no direct view of the apartment door and had no knowledge of whether Petitioner ever had a key to the victim's apartment or whether the victim had broken up with Petitioner recently. (App. p. 566). Because Shirley's testimony added nothing to the testimony already presented at trial, there is no reasonable probability that, had her testimony been presented, the result of the proceeding would have been different. Therefore, the Court of Appeals correctly ruled the PCR court erred in finding that Petitioner demonstrated he was prejudiced by Counsel's failure to call Shirley as a witness.

Elliott Canada

Likewise, the Court of Appeals properly held the PCR court erred in finding Petitioner satisfied his burden of proving Elliott Canada's testimony would have resulted in a different outcome at trial. Elliott testified he had been to Tiffany's apartment on the night of the shooting and twice previously. (App. p. 569). Elliott knew Tiffany through family, but worked with Tiffany's cousin Charlene and Watson, the gentleman that Tiffany was seeing that evening. (App. p. 568-69). In fact, Watson was the person that brought and took Elliott home that evening. (App. p. 571). Notably, Watson was the individual the defense alleged was responsible

for the victim's murder, rather than Petitioner. (App. p. 700). Elliott also admitted he was dating the victim's cousin, Charlene, at the time. (App. p. 575).

Elliott testified he had seen men's items in the apartment upstairs in the bedroom area on the prior visits. (App. p. 569-70). He testified it appeared to him that a man had been living in the apartment. (App. p. 570). However, he admitted he did not see men's clothing items in the apartment on the night of the shooting. (App. p. 579). On cross-examination, he also admitted he had been in the apartment a total of three times in the month prior to the shooting, but only went upstairs twice, contradicting his previous testimony. (App. p. 576). He also testified he could not recall if he went upstairs on the night of the shooting. (App. p. 576). However, he did testify he did not see any items to indicate a man lived in the apartment on the night in question in the downstairs area. (App. p. 577). Elliott testified he never heard the victim refer to Petitioner by his full name and never referred to Petitioner as her boyfriend. (App. p. 577-8). Elliott testified he did not know if Petitioner had a key to the apartment either. (App. p. 579). Elliott testified that on the night of the shooting, "from what [he] could see, where [he] was . . . sitting" it did not appear to him a man was living at the victim's apartment, but from the actions of Tiffany and Watson, it appeared a man was living there and could return home that night. (App. pp. 579-80). Elliott acknowledged that at the time of trial, he was in the county jail. He stated the prosecutor came to meet with him in jail and he knew he was listed as a potential State witness. (App. p. 572). However, he testified he would have been willing to speak with Counsel or his investigator and would have been willing to testify for the defense if he had been subpoenaed. (App. p. 573).

There is no evidence of probative value in the record to support the PCR court's finding that Petitioner proved he was prejudiced by Counsel's failure to call Elliott because, like Shirley,

he only testified concerning facts not in dispute. The State concedes that, at some point, the Applicant stayed in Tiffany's apartment. However, Petitioner needed witnesses to support he was still living in the apartment on January 29, and Elliott's testimony does not support that assertion. "The proper test is whether, under the totality of the circumstances, a burglary defendant had custody and control of, and the right and expectation to be safe and secure in, the dwelling burglarized." State v. Singley, 392 S.C. 270, 277, 709 S.E.2d 603, 606 (2011). In fact, Elliott's testimony suggests Petitioner was not living in the apartment at the time. He did not observe men's items in the home that evening and Elliott testified Tiffany and Watson both appeared nervous about Petitioner showing up at the apartment. (App. p. 580). Tiffany was the clear owner with rights to invite people into her home as guests and evict them when she so desired. Petitioner was welcome in the home so long as he was in the victim's "good graces." See Singley, 392 S.C. at 277. Elliott's testimony suggests Petitioner was no longer in those "good graces." Therefore, it is equally if not more likely that Elliott's testimony would have harmed, rather than helped, the defense. Accordingly, Petitioner failed to satisfy his burden of proving that there was a reasonable probability that if Elliott had testified at trial, the result would have been different. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693 ("It is not enough for the defendant to show that the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding.").

Antwan Martan

Petitioner also offered his childhood friend, Antwan Martin, as another witness. Antwan testified he had only been by Tiffany's apartment twice because of his work and family schedule. (App. p. 588). However, he could not recall when he had visited the apartment, but did know it had not been the week or so prior to the shooting. (App. p. 591). He testified he was aware the apartment had flooded previously, which required Tiffany and Petitioner to move in with

Petitioner's mother briefly. (App. p. 587). Antwan also testified he thought the locks had been changed at the apartment because of a break-in. (App. p. 587). However, he did not testify how he knew this information. Antwan also testified he did not know whether Petitioner had a key to the apartment at the time of the burglary and shooting or "anything about that situation." (App. p. 587-88).

Antwan testified he was with Petitioner the entire day prior to the shooting and Petitioner never mentioned being kicked out or fighting with Tiffany. (App. p. 588). Antwan also testified when he returned Petitioner to his car following the work that day, Petitioner told him he had numerous missed phone calls from Tiffany. (App. p. 590). Antwan acknowledged he did not see the phone, but relied on Petitioner telling him there were numerous calls from Tiffany throughout the day. (App. p. 591). Antwan testified he was never contacted by Counsel or his investigator, but would have been willing to speak with them or testify at trial. (App. p. 586). Counsel testified he did recall Antwan being with Petitioner on the day prior to the shooting, but believed that he did not call him because there was some good and bad on Antwan, and believed Antwan and Petitioner had been at a club at some point that night. (App. p. 704).

Although Antwan was the only witness present at the PCR hearing who claimed to have knowledge relating to Petitioner's relationship with Tiffany, Petitioner submits he lacked credible foundation for that knowledge because that information was based on his conversations with Petitioner. In addition, Antwan's testimony that he was with Petitioner from 3:00 pm until shortly after 8:00 pm, directly contradicts Petitioner's trial testimony that he spent about two and a half hours, until 4:30 pm, helping Antwan move. (App. p. 321; p. 591). Moreover, Antwan had not been to the apartment in the weeks prior to January 29, and had not seen any interactions between Petitioner and Tiffany firsthand. Antwan was merely present when Petitioner returned

to his phone and informed Antwan that there were numerous voicemails from Tiffany. From that information alone, Antwan merely made the assumption that Petitioner was still in a relationship with Tiffany and was still living in her apartment. Antwan had no actual, firsthand knowledge that Petitioner was residing with Tiffany as of the date of the shooting. Furthermore, regarding Antwan's testimony, Counsel testified the phone calls did not seem to him to indicate people living together any more than it indicated people who had broken up or were feuding. (App. p. 712, lines 10-12). Therefore, Petitioner failed to satisfy his burden of proving he was prejudiced by Counsel's failure to call Antwan because Antwan's testimony was not probative of any facts in dispute at trial and would have added nothing to support the defense that Petitioner was living with Tiffany at the time. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals correctly ruled the PCR court erred in finding Petitioner established prejudice.

Lloyd Williams

The final witness offered was Tiffany's stepfather at the time of the shooting, Lloyd Williams. Lloyd testified he was listed as a witness for the State, but was never called at trial. (App. p. 606). Lloyd testified he had known Tiffany since he married her mother when Tiffany was four years old. (App. p. 606). Lloyd testified he normally saw Tiffany at least once a week and would often visit her at the apartment where the shooting occurred. (App. p. 606-7).

Lloyd testified he was not aware that Tiffany's previous boyfriend, Chad Tate, was not listed on the apartment lease when he lived with Tiffany. (App. p. 607). Lloyd testified he knew Petitioner was at the apartment often, but Lloyd could not say if Petitioner was living there or not. (App. p. 607). Lloyd stated Petitioner was at the apartment most of the time Lloyd visited and was told by Tiffany once that Petitioner was upstairs sleeping because he had to work third shift. (App. p. 608-09). Lloyd also testified he had seen Petitioner put one of Tiffany's children

through the kitchen window so they could unlock the door once, and Petitioner claimed at that time he did not have his key to the apartment yet because he had given his key to Tiffany's mother. (App. p. 609-11). Lloyd could not testify as to the time frame of when he saw that occur, though. (App. p. 619). However, Lloyd testified again he could not say that Petitioner was living at the apartment, only that he was there a lot. (App. p. 613). Lloyd also testified he never saw any men's clothing items at the apartment. (App. p. 614). When shown his previous statement, Lloyd simply stated, "in the early stages," he believed Petitioner was living at Tiffany's apartment because he made that assumption when Tiffany would indicate Petitioner was upstairs sleeping. (App. p. 617).

Lloyd testified he visited Tiffany's apartment on the night of the shooting and Tiffany told him she originally did not answer the door when he knocked because she thought it was "J," referring to Petitioner. (App. p. 612). Lloyd saw Tiffany was playing cards with Charlene and two other guys. (App. p. 613). When he saw Tiffany and Charlene with the two guys, he did not know what to think as to whether Tiffany and Petitioner were still dating. (App. p. 619).

Although Lloyd's testimony tends to support that Petitioner, at some point, lived with Tiffany, he had no direct knowledge if they were dating at the time of the incident. He did not know if Petitioner had a key to the apartment at the time of the incident. His testimony corroborates Petitioner's testimony that the window was once used as a point of entry into the house, but this testimony at best reduces the suspicion surrounding Petitioner's method of entry. However, evidence relating to the use of the back window as a method of entry does not address whether Petitioner was still permitted to stay at the apartment at the time of the incident. Additionally, it is equally likely that Lloyd's testimony would have been harmful to the defense because he testified that Tiffany did not want to open the door for him because she thought it was

Petitioner. That testimony suggests both that Petitioner was not welcome at Tiffany's apartment, and that he did not have a key. Therefore, Petitioner also failed to demonstrate he was prejudiced by Counsel's failure to call Lloyd as a witness.

Counsel Richard H. Warder

Counsel testified that his strategy regarding calling witnesses is to make sure that it is a witness that he can get something out, but that the State will not have a stronger case once Counsel sits down. (App. p. 704). Counsel testified that even if a witness can bring something good, sometimes the cross-examination can be a disaster, leaving you with losing more ground than you gain. (App. p. 704).

The PCR judge found that there were others who, had Mr. Warder done his job properly, would have possibly made for a different outcome by sheer force of numbers. However, there is more to this analysis than a balancing between the number of state witnesses versus the number of defense witnesses testifying on the issue of Petitioner's residency. The testimony was clear that the apartment complex as testified to at trial and as redacted in the transcript was a product of *Section 8 Housing* opportunities offered as assistance by the federal government. (App. p. 203 line 25 – p. 204, line 1; App. p. 294, lines 7-11). *Section 8 Housing* is among the most desirable of all housing for low income tenants. It involves a more involved screening, the demand is high, and the waiting lists are long. Housing Lists, <https://section-8-housing.org/Housing-List>, (last visited June 7, 2017). One of the witnesses at trial, Tasha Allen, an assistant manager at Bradford Groves Apartments, even made clear that had the Petitioner actually “lived” with the victim then she, the witness, would have been obligated to report it to her case worker. (App. p. 200, lines 14-18). Had Counsel hammered away using witnesses who were testifying against the plain language of the lease, Counsel would no doubt be facing the more daunting claims of invited

error – using the witnesses to open up cross-examination and impeachment concerning the admission of welfare fraud, a federal crime, or exposing his client to charges for the same once the trial was over – rather than what was a much simpler question of strategy and fact: who are the best witnesses and how to use them.

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